CLERK. SUPREME COURT

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

)

BERNADETTE AMENTE and SOLOMON AMENTE, individually, and as natural parents and next friend of KATHY AMENTE, a minor,

Petitioners,

VS.

WILLIE B. NEWMAN, M.D., and WILLIE B. NEWMAN, M.D., P.A.,

Case No. 83,620

District Court of Appeal Fifth District - No. 93-2625

Respondents.

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Petitioners, BERNADETTE AMENTE and SOLOMON AMENTE, individually, and as natural parents and next friend of KATHY AMENTE, a minor, by and through their undersigned counsel, and pursuant to this Court's Order dated May 11, 1994, file this Brief on the Merits.

FACTS

Petitioners have filed a medical malpractice lawsuit against Respondents in this action alleging that the negligence of Respondent, Willie B. Newman, M.D., during delivery of Petitioner, Kathy Amente, caused injury to Kathy Amente, a minor. Petitioner, Bernadette Amente, weighed in excess of three hundred (300) pounds at the time the pregnancy began. Respondent, Willie B. Newman, M.D., classified her as markedly obese, having a high-risk pregnancy.

On August 19, 1992, the unsworn statement of Willie B. Newman, M.D., was taken. On March 19, 1993, the deposition of the Respondent, Willie B. Newman, M.D., was taken and transcribed (see Appendix to Response to Petition for Writ of Certiorari, tabs 1 and 2). In pertinent parts, Willie B. Newman, M.D., has stated, or testified, that:

- (1) the Petitioner's mother, Bernadette Amente, was markedly obese (tab 1, pp. 5-6);
- (2) marked maternal obesity is a recognized risk factor in pregnancy (tab 1, p. 6);
- (3) Willie B. Newman, M.D.'s, office practice is to place markedly obese pregnant women in an at-risk category (tab 1, p. 6);
- (4) there is an increased incidence of traumatic birth-related injuries when the mother is markedly obese (tab 1, p. 8);
- Willie B. Newman, M.D., recognized that, because of her marked obesity, Bernadette Amente was at risk for delivering an infant who would suffer an Erb's palsy injury (tab 1, pp. 9-10);
- (6) there are certain types of things a physician can do to monitor patients who have risk factors that pre-dispose them to traumatic birth injuries, both antenatally and at labor and delivery (tab 1, pp. 9-11); and,
- Willie B. Newman, M.D., based his prenatal treatment and delivery technique, at least in part, on his past experience in delivering children of markedly obese patients (tab 2, pp. 46-50);
- (8) Willie B. Newman, M.D., has, in the past, delivered markedly obese women at Central Florida Regional Hospital under similar circumstances as those of Bernadette Amente, and has had no complications when doing so (tab 2, p. 34).

Petitioners served a request to produce on Respondents, dated June 25, 1993, requesting production of:

the complete obstetric records of all obstetric patients of Willie B. Newman,
M.D., who delivered infants at Central Florida Regional Hospital for the period
January 1, 1989, through December 31, 1990, who were markedly obese.

NOTE: This request contemplates the redaction of all patientidentifying information from the records prior to production.

Respondents filed an objection to the request to produce on June 29, 1993 (see Appendix to Petition for Writ of Certiorari, tab 3). The trial court held a hearing on August 30, 1993, which was continued on September 29, 1993, on Respondents' objection to the request to produce the requested records with the names, addresses and other patient-identifying data redacted from the records (see Appendix to Petition for Writ of Certiorari, tab 6, pp. 1-14, and tab 8, pp. 1-12). The trial court ordered compliance with the request to produce by providing the records of other markedly obese obstetric patients with their names and addresses redacted (see Appendix to Petition for Writ of Certiorari, tab 9, pp. 1-2).

Respondents appealed the trial court's order to the Fifth District Court of Appeal through Petition for Writ of Certiorari on November 8, 1993. The Fifth District Court of Appeal granted the Respondents' writ and quashed the trial court's order in an opinion issued on March 31, 1994, ruling that introduction of patient records of third parties, not parties to the subject litigation, is not appropriate on grounds of relevancy and physician-patient confidentiality. The court certified conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeal, and this (the instant) appeal ensued (see Exhibit 1, attached hereto). On May 11, 1994, this Court entered an Order postponing a decision on jurisdiction, and ordered Petitioners' brief on the merits to be filed on or before June 6, 1994.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in granting the discovery requests and ordering compliance with the request to produce the redacted non-party patient records in accordance with applicable case law and the intent of the Florida legislature as evidenced by the plain language of sections 395.017(3), 455.241(2) and 90.510, Florida Statutes. A straightforward reading of these statutes shows that the legislature desired that the physician-patient relationship be given the utmost respect by the court but recognized that there would be situations in which a doctor's information with regard to a patient would be required to execute the notion of fair play and substantial justice between the parties to a lawsuit. Use of this information to impeach the testimony of a party to a lawsuit, to determine the level of knowledge a doctor has through experience regarding a specific procedure on a specific type of patient, and to determine the standard of care a defendant/doctor normally provides his patient, are all relevant reasons for the availability of such evidence.

Protecting the confidentiality of the non-party patients of the Respondent was disposed of by the trial court's order, which provided for the redaction of all names and addresses. The facts of this case are directly on point with those of <u>Ventimiglia el. rel Ventimiglia v. Moffit</u>, 502 So. 2d 14 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), and <u>Amisub (North Ridge Hospital)</u>, Inc. v. Kemper, 543 So. 2d 470 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), in that Petitioners have no reason or desire to know the identity of the patients to whom the records pertain, and, in fact, framed their initial request to produce to specifically protect patient confidentiality. <u>Ventimiglia</u>, 502 So. 2d at 14; <u>Amisub</u>, 543 So. 2d 470. Petitioners are only interested in the "data" these files would provide relevant to the subject case, and this can be accomplished if "any possible reference to the identity of the patients be deleted for the records and protected from discovery." <u>Ventimiglia</u>, 502 So. 2d at 14. This protects the patients from any possible embarrassment from revelation of confidential identifying material because there will be no way to match any such sensitive material to any person.

ARGUMENT

A careful reading of the decision of

the Fifth District Court of Appeal herein reveals an admixture of grounds utilized to support their ultimate decision, including reference to two grounds never raised below by Respondents, or briefed on appeal. Those grounds are, in the order as discussed by the Fifth District Court of Appeal:

- a lack of proper notice to the patients, pursuant to section 455.241, Florida Statutes;
- (2) relevance as weighed against patient confidentiality;
- (3) constitutional right of privacy citing Article I, Section 23, Florida Constitution.

Each ground will be discussed in the order raised by the Fifth District Court of Appeal, although Petitioners would point out that the well established rule of appellate procedure remains that issues not raised below cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. <u>See, e.g., Wilson v.</u> <u>Health Trust, Inc., 19 FLW D111 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), and Tillman v. State, 471 So. 2d 32 (Fla. 1985).</u>

The Fifth District does correctly cite to section 455.241, Florida Statutes, as giving the procedural guidance for, in general, obtaining patient medical records and of safeguarding the patient's records confidentiality. However, its attempt to apply that statute to the facts of this

case is confusing at best. <u>Franklin v. Nationwide Mutual Fire Ins. Co.</u>, 566 So. 2d 529 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) <u>review dismissed</u>, 574 So. 2d 142 (Fla. 1990), simply has nothing to do with this case other than the same statute was at issue (albeit in a completely different context).

In order to comply with section 455.241, Florida Statutes, notice requirement, the defendants would initially have been required to submit the plaintiffs the names and addresses of all "markedly obese patients who delivered babies with Dr. Newman in attendance at Central Florida Regional Hospital from 1/1/89 through 12/31/90," as the statute clearly requires "... proper notice to the patient or the patient's legal representative <u>by the party seeking such records</u>" (emphasis added). Had plaintiffs/Petitioners submitted such an interrogatory request, what action could the defendants/Respondents have been expected to have taken? Simple - an objection that the disclosure of said names and addresses would have violated patient confidentiality. Even the Fifth District noted the incongruity of this argument, at footnote 4, wherein they said, "We recognize that to give them notice is to interject them into the lawsuit and to name them as patients of Dr. Newman, but the statute requires 'proper notice' as a requisite to disclosure even in redacted form." It is apparent that, where information is sought in a redacted form, such notice is impossible and unnecessary. The Petitioners would submit that the Respondents recognized this same thing, as no notice objection was ever raised below.

The court next addresses the relevance argument, apparently finding, as a matter of law, that other patient records are *per se* irrelevant in a medical malpractice action. It is this analysis that so clearly demonstrates conflict with the more well reasoned approach of the fourth District as espoused in <u>Amisub, Inc. v. Kemper</u>, 543 So. 2d 470 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); <u>Ventimiglia el.</u> rel Ventimiglia v. Moffit, 502 So. 2d 14 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). The Fifth District, through

Judge Thompson, flatly stated:

Because of the nature of the case, expert testimony will be required in court because the medical testimony will be outside the experience of the jurors. Charles W. Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence §90.702 (1992 ed.). Since an expert will be needed to show that there is evidence of medical negligence by Dr. Newman, what then is the relevance of the information from the patient's records that cannot be gathered from other sources? If Dr. Newman has been sued by obese patients before, there is a record of the lawsuit in the public record in the jurisdiction where he has practiced. Dr. Newman has also given a sworn and unsworn statement concerning his delivery of children when the mother is obese, and any problems the children have experienced as a result of the delivery. The fact that Dr. Newman has delivered children of other obese women is not relevant to his delivery method of the Amente child. It is not relevant to show that he deviated from the applicable standard of care that is required by Dr. Newman. The applicable standard of care required is the standard observed by the medical community, not that of Dr. Newman alone. The question before the trial court will be whether he was negligent when he delivered the Amente child, not whether he was negligent in other cases with obese mothers.

Contrary to this recitation of the Fifth District's view of this evidence, the Petitioners

established the following, through Willie B. Newman, M.D.'s, own testimony:

- (1) that markedly obese women are high-risk obstetric patients;
- (2) that markedly obese women are specifically at increased risk of traumatic birthrelated injuries like Erb's palsy;
- that he has admitted many women with marked maternal obesity to Central Florida Regional Hospital for pitocin-induced delivery before Bernadette Amente, with no complications;
- (4) that he made a conscious decision to leave Bernadette Amente in a labor bed instead of moving her to a drop-down delivery bed, based upon his past experience in delivering infants under similar circumstances.

When questioned by the trial court as to the relevancy issue, Plaintiffs/Petitioners advanced two clearly relevant and admissible uses for this evidence: (1) if Willie B. Newman, M.D., had other Erb's palsy injuries associated with the failure to use a drop-down delivery bed with markedly obese patients, said evidence would be admissible on standard of care - a "prior similars" approach, and causation (please recall Willie B. Newman, M.D., cannot opine what caused this child's injury, only that he did not - Appendix to Response to Petition for Writ of Certiorari, tab 1, pp. 62-66); (2) if Willie B. Newman, M.D., did utilize drop-down delivery beds, or did have other brachial plexus injuries, this evidence would be admissible for direct impeachment. The Fifth District's opinion leaves Willie B. Newman, M.D., free to make grandiose claims about his past experience without fear that Petitioners can ever test the truthfulness of that claim. Of final note, the Petitioners' original citation to <u>East Coast Refuse</u> <u>Service v. Velocci</u>, 416 So. 2d 1276 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), was only to establish a reminder that this is a discovery debate, and that the definition of "relevancy" in that context is significantly broader than when admissibility is at issue.

The Fifth District also concludes, apparently by application of Article I, section 23, of the Florida Constitution, that these patient records, even if relevant, are absolutely immune from discovery:

The intricate and intimate details of the lives of patients should not be subject to public display and perhaps opprobrium simply because the Amentes want to look. The constitutional right to privacy and the right to be free from governmental intrusion means nothing if the private medical files of a patient cannot be kept, even in redacted form, from strangers. The harm could be irreparable.

Cut to its underpinnings, the Fifth District Court of Appeal has cut a much wider swath than its predecessors, Argonaut Ins. Co. v. Peralta, 358 So. 2d 232 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), cert. denied,

364 So. 2d 889 (Fla. 1978); Leikensohn v. Cromwell, 434 So. 2d 1030 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), and held, even if proper notice given, and even if relevant, and even if all identifying data is removed so as to absolutely shield confidentiality, the records are constitutionally immune from discovery. This is clearly contradictory of the plain language of physician-patient confidentiality statutes for both doctors and hospitals. Fla. Stat. Ann. §§455.241(2) and 395.017(3) (West 1993). Of course, this argument, as well, was never raised below by the Respondents.

As the Fifth District Court of Appeal impliedly noted in the opinion, the legislature was well aware of the privacy provisions of the Florida Constitution when it codified the physicianpatient privilege and its exceptions. Newman, 19 FLW at D723-4; Fla. Stat. Ann. §§90.510, 395.017(3) and 455.241(2) (West 1993). Section 455.241(2), Florida Statutes, defines the privileged nature of a doctor's records on a patient and that the doctor cannot release the records without the consent of the patient. Fla. Stat. Ann. §455.241(2) (West 1993). However, it also provides an exception that allows for the discovery of the records in litigation. Id. Furthermore, it makes a distinction between litigation in which the patient is a party and "any civil or criminal action, ... upon the issuance of a subpoena of competent jurisdiction." Id. Therefore, it is improper to argue or even imply that the legislature, cognizant of the Florida Constitution's privacy provisions, purposefully created these exceptions to the physician-patient privilege in violation of the patient's right to privacy or that they did so with the intent that they be given no effect by the courts. The Fifth District Court of Appeal has effectively ignored the balancing interests of fair play and the pursuit of justice when making its privacy argument in deciding this case.

In <u>Ventimiglia v. Moffit</u>, 502 So. 2d 14 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), the court upheld an order providing for discovery, stating:

We deny the petition for writ of certiorari seeking to set aside the trial court's order compelling a physician-witness to produce copies of records of other patients he has treated for conditions similar to that suffered by the claimant. The trial court provided that any possible reference to the identity of the patients be deleted from the records and protected from discovery. The trial court's order relied on the fact that the physician predicated his diagnosis and opinion in claimant's case, at least in part, upon his experience with the other patients. Hence, the court concluded that discovery of the medical history of those patients was relevant to the issues involved in claimant's action against the respondents. We believe the trial court acted within its discretion in permitting discovery of relevant material while protecting the confidentiality of the physician's other patients.

Likewise, in Amisub (North Ridge Hospital), Inc. v. Kemper, 543 So. 2d 470 (Fla. 4th

DCA 1989), the court again upheld a trial court order compelling production, stating:

We deny this petition for writ of common law certiorari which seeks to set aside an order of the trial court compelling the defendant/petitioner to produce copies of records of other patients who underwent certain specified procedures on the same day as the plaintiff's decedent. *Ventimiglia v. Moffit*, 502 So. 2d 14 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). The trial court included a provision in its order for the deletion of the names of the other patients before the records were released to counsel. As stated in *Ventimiglia*, we believe the trial court acted within its discretion in permitting discovery of relevant material while protecting the confidentiality of the other patients. *Id.* at 15.

These holdings, by the Fourth District Court of Appeal, are squarely in line with the vast

weight of authority upon this point, as virtually every state which has been presented the issue

has ruled that (1) other patient records can be relevant in a medical malpractice case, and (2)

where relevant, redaction protects patient confidentiality and discovery is, therefore, appropriate.

See Hood v. Phillips, 554 S.W.2d 160 (Tex. 1977); Osterman v. Ehrenworth, 256 A.2d 123

(N.J. Sup. Ct. 1969); Rudnick v. Superior Court of Kern County, 523 P.2d 643 (Cal. 1974);

Tucson Medical Center, Inc. v. Rowles, 520 P.2d 518 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1974); Community Hospital Association v. District Court in and for County of Boulder, 570 P.2d 243 (Colo. 1977); Boddy v. Parker, 358 N.Y.S.2d 218 (N.Y. App. Div. 2d 1974); Hyman v. Jewisk Chronic Disease Hospital, 258 N.Y.S.2d 397 (N.Y. 1965); Ziegler v. Superior Court in and for City of Pima, 656 P.2d 1251 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1982). But see contra Parkson v. Central Dupage Hospital, 435 N.E.2d 140 (III. App. Ct. 3d 1982).

In <u>Rudnick</u> the trial court had denied discovery on the ground that production would be violative of the physician-patient privilege. The California Supreme Court aptly described the nature of the physician-patient privilege and when a court show allow the discovery of the records of an outsider when it stated:

The whole purpose of the privilege is to preclude the humiliation of the patient that might follow disclosure of his ailments (citation omitted). Therefore if the disclosure of the patient's name reveals of any communication concerning the patient's ailments, disclosure of the patient's name does not violate the privilege (citation omitted). If, however, disclosure of the patient's name inevitably in the context of such disclosure reveals the confidential information, namely the ailments, then such disclosure violates the privilege (citation omitted). Conversely if the disclosure reveals the ailments <u>but not the patient's identity</u>, then such disclosure would appear not to violate the privilege (citation omitted) (emphasis added) (footnote 13). *Rudnick*, 523 P.2d at 650-1.

In <u>Rowles</u>, the court considered a request to produce for a blanket inspection of non-party patients' records that was granted by the trial. This was found to be too broad but, that the best avenue may be that the records should be released through the use of an *in camera* inspection of the records to ensure that no privileged information is disseminated. <u>Rowles</u>, 520 P.2d at 524.

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