SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 83,620

JUL 1 1994 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

FILED

SID .1 WHITE

By____

Chief Deputy Clark

BERNADETTE AMENTE and SOLOMON AMENTE, individually, and as natural parents and next friend of KATHY AMENTE, a minor,

Petitioners,

Fifth District Court of Appeal No. 93-2625

vs.

WILLIE B. NEWMAN, M.D. and WILLIE B. NEWMAN, M.D., P.A.,

Respondents.

ORIGINAL

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JENNINGS L. HURT III, Florida Bar No. 0238171 RANDALL M. BOLINGER, Florida Bar No. 437530 MICHAEL V. HAMMOND, Florida Bar No. 0896690

> Rissman, Weisberg, Barrett, Hurt, Donahue & McLain, P.A. 201 E. Pine Street, 15th Floor Orlando, FL 32801 (407) 839-0120

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the Fifth District Court of Appeal correctly decide that the Circuit Court of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Seminole County departed from the essential requirements of law when it ordered Respondents to produce the records of other patients not involved in this medical malpractice lawsuit?

FACTS

Respondents agree with the Petitioners' explanation of the facts of this case except to the extent that Petitioners imply that statements made by Dr. Newman make the records of other patients relevant to the issues in this case.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fifth District Court of Appeal correctly decided this case in favor of the Respondents in its opinion below. The records of other patients who are not parties to this lawsuit requested by the Petitioners are not relevant to the only issue in this case, which is whether Dr. Amente failed to conform to the standard of care required of him. In addition, the Fifth District Court of Appeal correctly determined that the constitutional right of privacy guaranteed to the other patients by the Florida State Constitution precludes any disclosure of these records even in redacted form. In their initial brief on the merits the Petitioners had relied on two cases decided by the Fourth District Court of Appeal to support their position in this case. <u>Amisub (Northridge Hospital, Inc.) v. Kemper</u>, 543 So. 2d 470 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); and <u>Ventimiglia v. Moffitt</u>, 502 So. 2d 14 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). However, only one district court of appeal supports the Petitioners' view. In contrast, the Second, Third and Fifth District Courts of Appeal support the Respondents' position. <u>Newman v. Amente</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D722 (Fla. 5th DCA March 31, 1994); <u>Leikensohn v. Cornwell</u>, 434 So. 2d 1030 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983); <u>Teperson v. Donato</u>, 371 So. 2d 703 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979); <u>Argonaut Insurance Company v. Peralta</u>, 358 So. 2d 232 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978). Accordingly, the clear weight of authority of Florida law favors the Respondents' position in the case now before this Court.

The Petitioners have cited several cases in their initial brief from foreign jurisdictions. None of the cases cited by the Petitioners shed any light on the issue of relevance in this case because none of those cases address the relevance of the records of other patients to the issue of the standard of care in a medical malpractice lawsuit. Furthermore, all of those cases interpret various state statutes creating a physician-patient privilege and none of them consider the issue of the right to privacy enjoyed by the other patients involved in those lawsuits or whether any of the state constitutions of those various other states even establish any such right to privacy.

- 2 -

Finally, the Petitioners in their initial brief on the merits failed to present this Court with significant authority from other jurisdictions that supports the Respondents position in this case. Specifically, several cases from foreign jurisdictions support the Respondents' position that the requested medical records are not relevant and disclosure of those records of other patients would impermissibly infringe upon their right to confidentiality and right to privacy even if those records are disclosed only in redacted form.

ARGUMENT

The Fifth District Court of Appeal correctly decided that the Circuit Court of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Seminole County departed from the essential requirements of law when it ordered Respondents to produce the records of other patients not involved in the medical malpractice lawsuit below. Such records are simply not relevant to the issue of whether Dr. Newman departed from the required standard of care during the delivery of the Amente child. Clearly, Florida Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 1.280(b)(1) allows discovery only of information that is relevant to the issues in a pending action. Furthermore, the privacy rights of Dr. Newman's other patients who are not parties to this lawsuit would be impermissibly intruded upon if the Amentes were permitted to violate those patients' confidential relationship with Dr. Newman in an attempt to obtain information that has no bearing at all on the issue of whether

- 3 -

Dr. Newman departed from the accepted standard of care in the community during the course of his treatment of Mrs. Amente and delivery of the Amente child.

In <u>Argonaut Insurance Company v. Peralta</u>, 358 So. 2d 232 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 364 So. 2d 889 (Fla. 1978), the Third District Court of Appeal addressed the relevance of the records of other patients in a medical malpractice suit and held that it is not proper for a trial court to order the production of the medical records of other patients who are not parties to a lawsuit. Specifically, the Third District Court of Appeal stated:

> to permit a party to inject into the public record medical information of a stranger to the suit, under the guise that it has a bearing on the competency of the doctor, would be unconscionable. The question in medical malpractice is whether or not the doctor, in treating the plaintiff, used a standard of care commensurate with that used in the community and that question can be answered by utilizing other methods of proof than the invasion into medical records of strangers.

Id. at 233 (citing <u>Holl v. Talcott</u>, 191 So. 2d 40 (Fla. 1966) and <u>Talcott v. Holl</u>, 224 So. 2d 420 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969)). In its opinion quashing the order of the trial court in this case the Fifth District Court of appeal specifically endorsed this statement of the law by the Third District Court of Appeal in <u>Newman v. Amente</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D722, D724 (Fla. 5th DCA March 31, 1994).

- 4 -

In <u>Peralta</u>, just as in the case presently before this court, the trial court had ordered that the medical records at issue should be produced but that the patients' names and addresses should be deleted from the records. Despite the fact that all references to the identity of the patients would be redacted, the Third District Court of Appeal protected the integrity of the confidential relationship between patients and their doctor and quashed the order of the trial court compelling the production of records related to patients that were not parties to the lawsuit. Essentially, the <u>Peralta</u> court held that such records are not relevant to the issues presented by a medical malpractice suit. In addition, the Fifth District Court of Appeal found in <u>Newman</u> that the privacy of the other patients whose records are at issue could not be sufficiently protected by redaction of those records. <u>Newman</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly at D724.

The Third District Court of Appeal has consistently followed its precedent in <u>Peralta</u>. In <u>Teperson v. Donato</u>, 371 So. 2d 703 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), the court cited <u>Peralta</u> and once again quashed a trial court's order compelling production of records related to patients who were not parties to the medical malpractice lawsuit even though the trial court order had contemplated redaction of the identities of those patients.

In <u>North Miami General Hospital v. Royal Palm Beach Colony</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 397 So. 2d 1033 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), the Third District Court of Appeal once again reiterated the reasoning for this rule. In that case, the court stated that:

- 5 -

Any revelation of the contents of the documents concerning other patients who have no connection whatever with this litigation will, to a greater or lesser extent, impermissibly compromise their right to the confidentiality of their medical records which is protected from such incursions by both decisional and statutory law.

Id. at 1035 (citing <u>Dade County Medical Association v. HLIS</u>, 372 So. 2d 117 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979); <u>American Health Plan, Inc. v.</u> <u>Kostner</u>, 367 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979); <u>Argonaut Insurance</u> <u>Company v. Peralta</u>, 358 So. 2d 232 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 364 So. 2d 889 (Fla. 1978); and Florida Statute Sections 90.503, 390.002, 394.459(9), 395.19, 395.202, 397.053, 827.07(15)).

The Second District Court of Appeal has followed the rule established by the Third District Court of Appeal. In <u>Leikensohn</u> <u>v. Cornwell</u>, 434 So. 2d 1030 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), the Second District Court of Appeal cited <u>Peralta</u> and held that the petitioners in <u>Leikensohn</u>, the defendant doctors in the case, did not have any obligation to produce the records of other patients even if careful attention was given to patient confidentiality. The Second District Court of Appeal quashed the order of the trial court that had denied the petitioner's motion for protective order.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal has also consistently endorsed this view. It impliedly endorsed this view in <u>Big Sun</u> <u>Healthcare Systems v. Prescott</u>, 582 So. 2d 756 (Fla. 5th DCA

- 6 -

1991), and expressly endorsed this view in <u>Newman v. Amente</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D722.

The First District Court of Appeal has not expressed any opinion on this issue. The Fourth District Court of Appeal stands alone with its minority view of this issue in <u>Amisub</u> <u>(Northridge Hospital, Inc.) v. Kemper</u>, 543 So. 2d 470 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), and <u>Ventimiglia v. Moffitt</u>, 502 So. 2d 14 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), discussed below.

The Petitioners have stressed the fact that the request to produce and the order compelling compliance with the request in this case contemplated the redaction of information that might identify the other patients who are not parties to this lawsuit. In doing so, they have relied on cases decided by the Fourth District Court of Appeal. However, they have offered no explanation of how redaction would sufficiently protect the privacy of other patients and have offered no satisfactory explanation of how those redacted records would be relevant to the issue of whether Dr. Newman departed from the standard of care in this medical malpractice case. Petitioners must show that Dr. Newman's treatment did not conform to the treatment that a reasonable obstetrician/gynecologist in the community would have rendered to Mrs. Amente. These records will not help them do this.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal explained the relevance issue in this case as clearly and succinctly as possible. That court stated:

- 7 -

The fact that Dr. Newman has delivered children of other obese women is not relevant to his delivery method of the Amente child. It is not relevant to show that he deviated from the applicable standard of care that is required by Dr. Newman. The applicable standard of care required is the standard observed by the medical community, not that of Dr. Newman alone. The question before the trial court will be whether he was negligent when he delivered the Amente child, not whether he was negligent in other cases with obese mothers.

Newman, 19 Fla. L. Weekly at D724.

In <u>Ventimiglia v. Moffitt</u>, 502 So. 2d 14 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), relied on by Petitioners, the Fourth District Court of Appeal denied a petition for writ of certiorari that sought to set aside a trial court's order compelling a physician to produce copies of records of other patients who were not related to the lawsuit. In that case, the Fourth District Court of Appeal noted that the trial court's order "relied on the fact that the physician predicated his diagnosis and opinion in the claimant's case, at least in part, upon his experience with the other patients." Id. at 14.

Although the trial court's order in the case presently before this Court does not rely on any such fact, the Petitioners have noted in their initial brief on the merits that Dr. Newman indicated that the decisions he made concerning his care of Mrs. amente were influenced by his experience with previous patients. However, it is always the case that a physician refers to and relies on his previous experience when making treatment and care decisions concerning subsequent patients. This fact in itself is

- 8 -

not sufficient to make the records of those previous patients relevant to the issue of whether the physician departed from the required standard of care in his treatment of the subsequent patient.

Petitioners also rely on <u>Amisub (Northridge Hospital, Inc.)</u> <u>v. Kemper</u>, 543 So. 2d 470 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989). In that case the Fourth District Court of Appeal upheld the order of the trial court compelling the petitioner to produce copies of records of other patients. The Fourth District Court of Appeal apparently based this decision on its observation that the trial court provided in its order that the names of the other patients should be deleted before the records were produced. <u>Id</u>.

However, the <u>Amisub</u> court also observed, without explaining why, that the records requested were somehow relevant in that particular case. <u>Id</u>. It is not clear from the opinion whether the Fourth District Court of Appeal simply contradicts the decisions of the Second, Third, and Fifth District Courts of Appeal or whether the Fourth District Court of Appeal intended to limit its holding to the facts presented in <u>Amisub</u>. The per curiam opinion in <u>Amisub</u> did not include any discussion of the facts presented by the case.

Nevertheless, there are no facts in the case presently before this Court to demonstrate the relevance of the records of other patients and the Fifth District Court of Appeal concluded that the position of the Fourth District Court of Appeal directly conflicts with the positions of the Second, Third, and Fifth

- 9 -

District Courts of Appeal. The records requested by Respondents are simply not relevant to the issues presented by this medical malpractice claim and the trial court did not make any specific finding that they are.

Accordingly, the rule adopted by the Second, Third, and Fifth District Courts of Appeal that protects the private, confidential relationship between doctors and patients and prevents the production of the records of other patients should be followed and adopted by this Court. Moreover, the redacted records exception to that general rule, formulated by the Fourth District Court of Appeal and specifically rejected by the Fifth District Court of appeal in its opinion in this case below, should not be adopted to erode the protection of privacy enjoyed by a doctor's patients.

In addition to finding that the records at issue in this case are not relevant to the issues presented by this case, the Fifth District Court of Appeal found that the constitutional right of privacy found in Article 1, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution demonstrates that the State of Florida has determined that an individual's right of privacy takes precedence in any balancing of competing interests. Certainly, there are circumstances under which an individual voluntarily gives up this right of privacy, such as by voluntarily bringing a personal injury action and allowing other parties to obtain their medical records through the subpoena process. However, in a situation in which an individual has not voluntarily waived their right of

- 10 -

privacy this constitutionally protected right should take precedence in any balancing of interests. Clearly, under the facts presented by this case there is no indication that any of the individuals whose records the Petitioners seek to discover have indicated that they wish to give up their right of privacy or the confidential relationship they enjoy with their physician.

In their initial brief on the merits, the Petitioners have repeatedly asserted that the Fifth District Court of Appeal somehow improperly based its decision, in part, on this constitutional right of privacy. Specifically, Petitioners assert that because this issue was not briefed or argued below, Respondents have no right to raise the issue on appeal. However, Petitioners conveniently ignore the fact that the Fifth District Court of Appeal <u>voluntarily</u> engaged in a consideration of the constitutional right of privacy on its own initiate.

Although Petitioners assert that the privacy argument is an entirely new ground for the Fifth District Court of Appeal's holding, it would more properly be considered simply an extension of the analysis already provided in cases decided by the Second and Third District Courts of Appeal such as <u>Peralta</u>. Essentially, this constitutional right of privacy is simply additional weight on the scales in favor of protecting the confidential records of other patients and not an additional ground upon which to base a decision. Petitioners have failed to cite any authority to establish that a district court of appeal is not entitled to insert additional legal analysis into an

- 11 -

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